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RE: SSR 17-4p and Program Uniformity Rules 
 
Dear Acting Commissioner Berryhill, 
 
I write on behalf of NOSSCR and its more than 3,000 members with serious concerns regarding 
SSA’s program uniformity rules (published at 81 Fed. Reg. 90987 on December 16, 2016) and 
Social Security Ruling (SSR) 17-4p, which was published today at 82 Fed. Reg. 46339. 
 
NOSSCR’s membership shares SSA’s goals of timely and accurate disability determinations. 
However, the program uniformity rule itself, the way that it is being interpreted by some 
Administrative Law Judges (ALJs), and SSR 17-4p all undermine those goals. NOSSCR has 
already shared members’ experiences at specific hearing offices and with specific ALJs who are 
applying the program uniformity rules inaccurately or inconsistently; in several cases, claims 
have been denied and now require Appeals Council review. A copy of NOSSCR’s August 24, 
2017 memo to Judge Nagle recounting these stories and making several recommendations is 
attached to this letter, as is an additional list of reports from representatives. 
 
Unfortunately, SSR 17-4p does not incorporate NOSSCR’s suggestions; nor does it provide 
accurate or practicable guidance to claimants, representatives, or ALJs. We believe that rather 
than aiding in adjudication, the SSR will in fact lead to longer files, more delays, inappropriate 
disciplinary referrals, policy-noncompliant decisions, additional appeals to (and remands from) 
the Appeals Council and federal courts.  
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In many situations, it is not practicable for “representatives to submit or inform us about written 
evidence as soon as they obtain or become aware of it.” During the lengthy wait from request for 
an ALJ hearing to receipt of a determination on the claim (the current national average 
processing time is 627 days), claimants may have dozens or even hundreds of medical 
appointments, tests, treatments, and hospitalizations. Requesting records each time a claimant 
with kidney failure receives dialysis or a claimant with schizoaffective disorder sees a 
psychiatric social worker could require numerous requests per week. In some states, disability 
claimants are entitled to one free copy of their records but must pay for subsequent requests. In 
other states, the first few pages of medical records cost more than subsequent pages.1 Therefore, 
making frequent requests to providers months or years in advance of the hearing is not just 
aggravating to the providers, unlikely to be successful in obtaining evidence, and unnecessary 
given the long delays before ALJs review the file, but also impossibly expensive for many 
claimants. 
 
SSR 17-4p imposes at least three requirements that go beyond the program uniformity 
regulations, while providing insufficient guidance as to how to meet these additional obligations. 
 
First, the SSR provides a definition of “inform” not found in the regulations: “To satisfy the 
claimant’s obligation under the regulations to ‘inform’ us about written evidence, he or she must 
provide information specific enough to identify the evidence (source, location, and dates of 
treatment) and show that the evidence relates to the individual’s medical condition, work 
activity, job history, medical treatment, or other issues relevant to whether or not the individual 
is disabled or blind…”. The SSR does not specify whether a claimant’s listing of a provider on 
the Disability Report—Appeals (SSA-3441) form would be sufficient to meet this new definition 
of “inform.” 
 
Second, while 20 CFR 404.935 requires each party to make “every effort to ensure that the 
administrative law judge receives all of the evidence and must inform us about or submit any 
written evidence. . . no later than 5 business days before the date of the scheduled hearing,” 
the SSR says “Representatives should not wait until 5 business days before the hearing to submit 
or inform us about written evidence unless they have compelling reasons for the delay.” What 
amount of time would be appropriate, and what reasons for delay are compelling? SSA 
specifically chose a 5-business day deadline for submission of evidence, but is now essentially 
stating that adherence to this deadline violates SSA’s rules of conduct. In many situations, 
claimants acquire representation very soon before a hearing or after a hearing has been 
postponed for them to seek counsel. This is merely one of many compelling reasons for evidence 
to be submitted or informed about shortly before the hearing.  
 
Finally, the prefatory matter to the final rule says that “if a claimant informs an ALJ about 
evidence 5 or more days before the hearing, there would be no need for the ALJ to find that a 
[good cause] exception applies, because the claimant notified us prior to the deadline,” but the 
SSR says “it is only acceptable for a representative to inform us about evidence without 
submitting it if the representative shows that, despite good faith efforts, he or she could not 
                                                 
1 https://www.nosscr.org/state-medical-records-payment-rates. For example, in Illinois, there is a base “handling 
charge” of $27.33 plus postage and copying costs for any medical record request. Then, the first 25 pages cost $1.02 
per page, pages 26-50 cost 68¢ per page, and any additional pages cost 34¢ each.  

https://www.nosscr.org/state-medical-records-payment-rates
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obtain the evidence.” It is difficult to fathom how adherence to the program uniformity 
regulations could justify OGC referrals or the imposition of penalties against representatives, and 
yet the SSR indicates such circumstances will occur. The SSR does not describe the appropriate 
showing of a good faith effort to obtain evidence. Would a representative comply with this 
requirement if he or she does what SSA describes as “every reasonable effort” when discussing 
its own efforts to obtain evidence? According to 20 CFR 404.1512(b)(1) and 416.912(b)(1), the 
agency states that it has made “every reasonable effort” if it makes an initial request for medical 
evidence and one follow-up request 10-20 days later. The SSR is silent on whether this standard 
is also appropriate for representatives, or if there is a different standard to which representatives 
will be expected to adhere.  
 
The SSR also does not explain how to reconcile its instruction to submit or inform the agency 
about written evidence as soon as they obtain or become aware of it with its prohibition on 
informing the agency about evidence without a showing of a good faith yet unsuccessful attempt 
to obtain the evidence. In a situation where a representative learns a medical record exists and 
requests it, should she  

• Immediately inform the agency about the evidence and the request for it, thus not being 
able to discuss whether the good faith effort was unsuccessful (and requiring a second 
submission if the records are received), or  

• Wait to see if the request is granted, thus not informing the agency immediately? 
 

Given these issues, NOSSCR requests that SSA immediately rescind and replace SSR 17-4p. In 
addition to clarifying the topics discussed above, the new SSR should include a statement about 
ALJs’ obligation to consider evidence submitted after the five-day deadline if they were 
informed of it before the deadline OR if good cause exists (see 20 CFR §404.935 and 
§416.1435)2. It should clearly indicate that ALJs must not exclude such evidence from 
consideration and that they must make individualized determinations on whether good cause 
exists for a late submission of evidence of which the ALJ had not been informed.3 Given ALJs’ 
inconsistent procedures for counting five business days, the SSR should fully explain how to 
calculate the deadline for submission of evidence. The new SSR should also refer to the agency’s 
duty to develop the record.4 

 

                                                 
2 It would be appropriate to quote from the prefatory material to the final program uniformity rule:  “if a claimant 
informs an ALJ about evidence 5 or more days before the hearing, there would be no need for the ALJ to find that 
an exception applies, because the claimant notified us prior to the deadline.”  81 Fed. Reg. 90991 
 
3 “Because circumstances vary, we determine whether a claimant qualifies for an exception on a case-by-case basis.” 
81 Fed. Reg. 90988. Examples of reasons for good cause exceptions are clearly labeled as not encompassing every 
possible reason for granting an exception.  
 
4 “we did not intend to shift our burden to develop the record to claimants. In the proposed rule, as in this final rule, 
we recognize that some individuals, many of whom do not have appointed representatives, require our assistance in 
obtaining medical evidence needed to adjudicate their claims. Claimants who are unable to obtain evidence 
necessary to adjudicate their claims may inform us of this difficulty and we will continue to seek out evidence on 
their behalf to develop the record for their hearing. By adopting this final rule, we have not changed our 
longstanding policy of assisting claimants in developing the record.” 81 Fed. Reg. 90989 
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We also request that SSA take the actions NOSSCR recommended in our August 24 memo to 
Judge Nagle, specifically: 

• Provide NOSSCR with a copy of the memo to ALJs dated July 20, 2017 regarding how 
to handle cases where the ALJ was informed of evidence prior to the 5-day deadline. We 
have requested this memo through the FOIA process and by asking Judge Nagle but have 
not yet received it. 

• Provide additional training to ALJs about appropriate implementation of program 
uniformity rules. 

• Identify ALJs who repeatedly or egregiously misapply or misinterpret the program 
uniformity rule or the rules of conduct and standards of responsibility for representatives. 
Such ALJs should be subject to focused reviews, retraining requirements, and/or 
disciplinary action.  

• Prioritize Appeals Council reviews of cases where evidence was excluded. In early 2016, 
the Appeals Council developed a list of 21 “priority processing” categories. Each week, a 
group of employees screens cases where new evidence was submitted to see if they fall 
into any of the priority categories, which include attaining age 55; indication or report of 
the claimant’s death; VA disability rating of 70% or more; and several categories relating 
to diagnosis, treatment, or symptoms of various impairments. The Appeals Council 
should add a priority processing category for cases where evidence submitted less than 
five business days before the hearing was excluded by an Administrative Law Judge. 
This would help claimants obtain prompt remands or Appeals Council decisions and 
would allow SSA to identify situations where specific ALJs demonstrate a need for 
additional training about the program uniformity rule.  

 
Thank you for your attention to this important matter. NOSSCR staff would be glad to discuss 
this issue with you at your earliest convenience. Please contact me if it would be possible to meet 
in person or by phone.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
Barbara Silverstone 
Executive Director 
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